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The Dr. Carl V. Reynolds House, better known today as the Albemarle Inn, is an imposing 
porticosd residence sited on a spacious, tree-shaded two-acre lot at the end of Edgemont 
Road in Asheville's Grove Park neighborhood. The house features elaborate classical 
ornament and is one of the most prominent Neo-classical Revival houses in Asheville, 
a resort city whose turn-of-the-century residents more frequently preferred the more 
informal Shingle mode and related styles over the cooler formality of the Neo-classical 
and Colonial revivals. 

The weatherboarded house stands two stories on a stone foundation, and is essentially 
square in plan under a gable roof with interior brick chimneys. The three principal 
elevations are three bays wide and framed with paneled corner posts with Corinthian 
capitals carrying an elaborate entablature, which includes a paneled frieze, dentil 
course, and modillion blocks under deeply overhanging eaves. A monumental portico 
shelters the broad entrance bay of the front (west) elevation; its pairs of fluted 
Corinthian columns and half-round pilasters carry an entablature continuous with that 
of the house. The roof of the portico is flat~ .. -and -formerly slirmounted by a -balustrade. 
A deep, unsheltered terrace with a simple balustrade carries under the portico across 
the entire west elevation; this is reached by a wide, long flight of centrally placed 
concrete steps. The main entrance is recessed under a segmental arch, and is composed 
of a double-leaf door under a fanlight and flanked by full-length narrow sidelights 
of two lights each. Above, a second floor entrance, similarly recessed, opens onto a 
shallow balcony fronted with a curving balustrade of turned balusters and molded 
handrail. The large first floor windows have one-over-one sash with narrow sidelights 
and are set into shallow projecting bays with paneled pilasters and molded cornices. 
The second floor windows and others throughout the house have identical sash, set flush 
into the wall without sidelights. 

The north and south gable ends are pedimented, with the central bays projecting forward 
slightly the full t1~o-story height, framed like the full elevations with paneled corner 
posts with Corinthian capitals. On the north elevation, a one-story hip roof Tuscan 
porch supported by smooth, circular-in-section posts carries two-thirds of the width 
of the elevation; at the central bay the porch roof extends forward with a semi-circular 
projection. A hipped roof porte-cochere is attached to the south elevation, with a curving 
bay projecting forward from the second level above the porte-cochere. On the rear (east) 
elevation is placed a two-story block of utility and service rooms. 

The interior follows a half center-hall plan, with a transverse hall running north­
soutt from the south entrance and joining the main hall under a segemental arch at the 
center of the plan. The interior is handsomely finished with high quality woodwork 
of the period. A two-tiered paneled wainscot carries around the first floor halls and 
in some rooms. First floor rooms connect to the halls through double sliding doors, 
all paneled. A corbelled brick fireplace is at the focus of the hall; other fireplaces 
have mantels with free-standing posts supporting wide molded shelves. 

The dominating feature of the interior is the impressive closed-string, three-stage 
stair at the south end of the transverse hall; this features a paneled spandrel, turned 
balusters, and massive square-in-section newels with paneled faces and rounded caps with 
foliate ornament carved in relief. On the wide second landing, the balustrade projects 
forward in a broad arch, creating a circular space lighted by the windows of the curving 

bay in the south wall. 
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Rooms of the second and attic floors are simply finished, now serving as rooms for 
boarders. Doors are the horizontal panel type with six panels, set in molded and 
mitred surrounds. The attic spaces are lighted by shed dormers set into the roof. 

The 1920s classroom building stands just south of the house. The frame structure 
stands two stories under a gable roof, and is clad in weatherboards, with shingles 
in the gables. A shingled hip roof dormer lights the attic. Eight-light casement 
windows, set in groups of three under transoms, are placed irregularly across the 
elevations. A one-bay, two-story porch fronts the west gable end; this has a pedimented 
gable cover, square-in-section posts, and a simple balustrade. 

The interior of this building, which was converted into apartments in the 1940s, was 
not available for study. 
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Known today as the Albemarle Inn, the imposing, porticoed residence at 86 Edgemont Road 
in Asheville was built in 1909 for Dr. Carl V. Reynolds, a native of Asheville and son 
of an early Buncombe County medical practioner. The house was one of the first built 
in the section originally known as Proximity Park, later to become part of the Grove 
Park neighborhood under the leadership of developer E. W. Grove. Featuring elaborate 
classical ornament, the house is one of the best examples of the Neo-classical Revival 
in the city. Dr. Reynolds was known as a "medical statesman" who made significant contri­
butions in the field of purlic health, serving as city health officer in Asheville from 
1903-1910 and 1914-1923, and as a state health officer from 1934-1948. He was instrumental 
in the founding of the School of Public Health at the University of North Carolina in 
Chapel Hill. Dr. Reynolds and his wife, Edith lived in the house until 1920 when they 
sold it to the Grove Park School, a private institution founded in 1900 as the Asheville 
School for Girls. During the 1920s a classroom building was constructed adjacent to the 
house. In 1929 the school was leased by the Plonk sisters, educators in the arts who 
had founded a summer "Southern Workshop" five years earlier. The Plonks operated the 
school at the site until 1941, changing the name in 1938 to the Plonk School of Creative 
Arts. In 1941, the Plonk School moved and the Reynolds House became the Albemarle Inn, 
a rooming house, wl:1ich it remains today. The most celebrated guest of the Albemarle 
Y-7a_s Hungarian composer Bela Bartok, who lived h.ere during 1943; here he completed his 
Third Concerto for Piano, also known as the Asheville Concerto. It is said that the 
work was inspired by the "concert of birds" that the composer heard outside his window 
at the Albemarle. 

Criteria Assessment 

A. Associated with the early twentieth century economic and social development of 
the city of Asheville. 

B. Associated with the life of Dr. Carl V. Reynolds (1872-1963), prominent twentieth 
century leader in public health, and with the brief North Carolina residence of 
Bela-Bartok (1881-1945), who lived and worked here in 1943. 

C. The large, elaborately detailed Neo-classical Revival style house with its monumental 
Corinthian portico is significant as one of the most prominent and fully-developed 
examples of the style surviving in the city of Asheville. 
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In 1909 Dr. Carl V. Reynolds (1872-1963), then city health officer, had a large Neoclassical 
Revival style house

1
constructed for his private residence near the foot of Sunset Mountain 

in north Asheville. 

Unlike many of the physicians practicing in the booming health resort, Reynolds was a 
native of Asheville, descended on both lines from pioneer Buncombe County families. 
Carl's father, John Daniel Reynolds, was an early Asheville medical practitioner.2 
Carl Reynolds attended private schools in Asheville, completing a college preparatory 
course at the Asheville Military Academy, and received an education in the liberal arts 
at Wofford College. His medical schooling was at the City of New York r1edical College, 
with a post graduate course at Brompton Hospital in London.3 

Around 1896 he returned to Asheville and set up the private practice of medicine, with 
a large general practice combined with a specialty in the treatment of tuberculosis. He 
was to continue this private practice for nearly twenty years, but soon exhibited his 
interest in public health which was to become the major work of his life. In 1903 
he was appointed city health officer and served until 1910; reappointed in 1914, he 
served again until 1923. Described in the local papers as a "kinetic" health officer, 
Dr. Reynolds instituted many sanitation measures, including the country's first campaign 
against the housefly. 4 The vaccination of school children, a milk ordinance, and the 
required wrapping of bread all were initiated by him.S 

Reynolds' activities in public health were not confined to the local level. In 1924 
he was elected president of the North Carolina Medical Society; in 1931 president of 
the State Board of Health. In 1934 he began a fourteen year term as state health officer. 
His greatest achievement in this position was an aggressive campaign against veneral 
disease.6 

Reynolds was instrumental in founding the school of Public Health at the University of 
North Carolina at Chapel Hill, and served on its faculty in 1935. 7 

In 1907 Reynolds purchased some of the Pack family's vast land holdings in Asheville 
and organized the Proximity Park Company, a real estate corporation.8 He then began 
construction of his house on Edgemont Road in "Proximity Park." Shortly thereafter 
Reynolds sold most of his holdings (retaining his residence) to Edwin Wiley Grove, 
who was to become the real estate giant of twentieth century Asheville. Reynolds is 
said to have been responsible for Mr. Grove's decision to invest in Asheville real 
estate.9 "Proximity Park" became "Grove Park," with additional lands, some of which 
were purchased by Reynolds acting as agent for Grove. 

Reynolds and his wife Edith lived in the Grove Park house until 1920, when they built 
the first house in the new town of Biltmore Forest. 

In September, 1920, the Reynolds sold the house on Edgemont to the Grove Park School, 
a prestigious private institution founded in 1900 as the Asheville School for Girls. 10 

Principal owners of the school were E. W. Grove and Thomas A. Cosgrove, who was also 
chief executive officer and headmaster. 
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11 
The house suffered damage in a fire in the autumn of 1920, but was repaired by the school. 
A second building, a two-story frame classroom building adjacent to the house, was added 
in the 1920s. 

In 1929 the School was leased by the Plonk sisters, educators in the arts who had founded 
a summer "Southern Workshop" five years earlier.l2 The Hisses Plonk operated the 
school in the building until 1941, changing the name in 1938 to the Plonk School of 
Creative Arts. The school was to continue to operate until the 1960s, always innovative 
in trying to teach the "Total person--mind, body, voice, and spirit."l3 

In 1941, the Plonk School moved to a new location, and in the following year Thomas 
Cosgrove, who with is wife, Mary was then sole owner of the property, sold the house 
to T. Avery Taylor and his wife, Marie L. Taylor.l4 Under 'the Taylor ownership the 
house became the "Albemarle Inn," a rooming house,and it has retained that function 
under the same name through five separate owners over the last four decades.l5 The most 
famous guest at the Inn was the Hungarian Composer Bela Bartok (1881-1945), who lived 
here briefly in 1943. While residing at the Inn, Bartok composed his Third Concerto for 
Piano, also known as the "Asheville Concerto." It is said that the work \•Jas inspired 
by the "concert of birds" that Bartok heard singing in the gardens and trees around the 
house. 16 

The current owner is John Mellin, who purchased the property in 1981 fro~ E. L. Freeman, 
who had owned the inn from 1969.17 r1r. Hellin is undertaking a substantial rehabilitation 
of the structure. 
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